FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2/16/2018 11:54 AM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2/20/2018  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95517-4

Court of Appeals No. 74544-1-I

DIVISION I  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

KING AND MOCKOVAK EYE CENTER, INC., P.S., a  
Washington professional service corporation; and  
CLEARLY LASIK, INC., a Nevada corporation,

*Respondents,*

v.

MICHAEL MOCKOVAK, M.D., an individual,

*Appellant*

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT  
Honorable John H. Chun

---

James E. Lobsenz WSBA #8787  
CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S.

**A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW**

Michael E. Mockovak, Petitioner, seeks review of an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals issued on October 30, 2017. (Appendix A). Mockovak filed a timely motion for reconsideration and on December 12, 2017, the Court of Appeals directed the Respondent to file a response to that motion. (Appendix B). After that response was filed, on January 18, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied reconsideration. (Appendix C).

**B. ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. RCW 25.05.005(8), a statute identical to Section 101 of the Uniform Partnership Act, defines a “partnership at will” as follows:

“Partnership at will” means a partnership in which the partners have **not** agreed to remain partners until the expiration of a definite term **or** the completion of a particular undertaking.

(Emphasis added). Did the Court of Appeals err by construing the word “or” as a disjunctive “or” (equivalent to the word “either”), when in fact rules of statutory interpretation, decisions from other jurisdictions under the Uniform Partnership Act, and ordinary usage confirm that it is an inclusive “or” (equivalent to the word “neither”) that requires that both conditions be fulfilled?

2. Wash. Const., art. I, §15 provides that “No conviction shall work any . . . forfeiture of estate.” Did the trial judge violate Wash. Const., art. IV, §16 by failing to “declare the law” when it refused to instruct the jury that Mockovak’s conviction for attempted murder of his business partner did not cause Mockovak to forfeit his property interest in the



business that Mockovak co-owned with his business partner?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err when it held, contrary to cases such as *State v. Acosta*, 101 Wn.2d 612, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984) and *Carter v. Kentucky*, 450 U.S. 288 (1981), that the failure to “declare the law” was harmless error because Petitioner’s trial counsel was free to tell the jury about the law during his closing argument?

**C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**1. Joint Ownership of the medical corporations and loss of license due to criminal conviction.**

Drs. Mockovak and King jointly owned and operated several eye surgery clinics in Washington State through KMEC, a Washington professional service corporation which in turn was owned equally by King and Mockovak. *Opinion*, at 2.<sup>1</sup>

Mockovak was charged, tried and convicted of attempting to murder King, and was sentenced to prison. *Id.* at 3. Mockovak lost his license to practice medicine, and King maintained that this made Mockovak ineligible to own his shares of KMEC. *Id.* at 5.

**2. Civil suits between the corporations and the doctors regarding the existence of any enforceable partnership agreement, alleged breaches of fiduciary duties to the corporations, and alleged breaches of contract.**

At King’s direction, both KMEC and Clearly Lasik sued Mockovak. *Id.* at 4. In response, Mockovak brought third party claims for fraud, breach

---

<sup>1</sup> The doctors also operated an eye surgery clinic in Canada through Clearly Lasik, a Nevada corporation. *Id.* Clearly Lasik also owned eye surgery practices in four other States. *Id.* at 3. The doctors owned equal interests in Clearly Lasik. *Id.* at 2.

of fiduciary duty and conversion against King. *Id.* at 4. King counterclaimed for breach of fiduciary duty and for breach of their oral partnership agreement. *Id.* at 5.

Mockovak also sought to recover the value of his half ownership interest in KMEC by using the statutory appraisal mechanism for valuing dissenting shareholders' shares. *Id.* at 6. At trial both parties presented experts who testified about the value of Mockovak's cancelled KMEC shares, the value of other practices, and damages. *Id.* at 7. When King rested, Mockovak moved to dismiss King's counterclaim for breach of the oral partnership agreement on the ground that it violated the Statute of Frauds.

All parties agreed that the Statute of Frauds does not apply to a "partnership at will." King argued that his agreement with Mockovak was a "partnership at will"; Mockovak argued that it was not. The trial judge agreed with Mockovak that it was not a partnership at will and that it violated the Statute of Frauds and was therefore void. *Id.* at 19. The trial judge dismissed King's breach of contract claim and prohibited him from seeking any damages for its breach. *Id.*

**3. Refusal to instruct the jury that Mockovak's conviction did not work any forfeiture of estate.**

Art. 1, §15 provides: "No conviction shall work corruption of blood, nor forfeiture of estate." Mockovak asked the trial judge to instruct the jury that it could not conclude that because he had been convicted of attempting to kill King, that he had forfeited the property that he co-owned with King.

The proposed instruction read in pertinent part, “you may not, under the Washington Constitution’s Declaration of Rights, conclude that he has ‘forfeited’ his estate by virtue of his conviction.” Opinion, at 16. The trial judge refused to give this instruction because it was “an odd instruction,” an “irregular” instruction and that it “could cause confusion.” *Id.* The Court of Appeals rejected Mockovak’s contention that this was error, holding that the trial judge was not required to give a “confusing” instruction, and in any event Mockovak was not harmed because “the absence of the instruction did not stop [him] from referring to the constitutional provision during both voir dire and closing argument.” *Id.*

#### **4. The jury’s verdicts.**

The trial judge allowed the jury to decide whether a partnership existed, and if it did whether it had been terminated. *Id.* at 7. The jury found that a partnership did exist; that Mockovak’s conduct made it reasonably impracticable to continue the partnership; that his conduct damaged the value of the partnership; and that as a result of that damage the value of his shares was negative \$233,584. *Id.* at 7. The jury rejected all of Mockovak’s claims against King. The jury found in favor of KMEC and Clearly Lasik on their claims that Mockovak breached his fiduciary duties to those two corporations, but the jury did not award the corporations any damages for those breaches. *Id.*

#### **5. The Court of Appeals’ decision.**

Both sides appealed. Mockovak challenged the trial judge’s decision to allow the jury to determine the value of his cancelled shares in

KMEC. King cross-appealed the ruling that his partnership agreement with Mockovak was void because it violated the Statute of Frauds.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Mockovak that “[t]he trial court erred in allowing the jury to determine the valuation of Mockovak’s cancelled shares in KMEC,” vacated the jury’s valuation decision and remanded for a judicial determination of the value of those shares. *Id.* at 10.

The Court of Appeals also reversed the trial judge’s decision that the partnership agreement was void, holding that because the agreement was a “partnership at will” and therefore exempt from the Statute of Frauds. Looking to the statutory definition of the term, the Court of Appeals noted that “[a] ‘partnership at will’ is a partnership ‘in which the partners have not agreed [1] to remain partners until the expiration of a definite term or [2] the completion of a particular undertaking.’” *Id.* at 20, quoting RCW 25.05.005(8). The Court examined the evidence supporting the first of these two statutory conditions – the absence of any agreement to remain partners “until the expiration of a definite term”:

The evidence at trial showed that beginning in 2002 and continuing until Mockovak’s arrest, King and Mockovak participated in a partnership. The jury agreed. There was no evidence that King and Mockovak’s partnership was for a defined period of time or had an expiration date. *Thus*, it was a partnership at will.

*Opinion*, at 21 (emphasis added). But the Court of Appeals did *not* discuss the second of the two statutory conditions – the absence of an agreement to remain partners until “the completion of a particular undertaking.”

The Court viewed the second statutory condition as irrelevant because the first and second conditions were linked by the word “or.” Treating this “or” as a disjunctive “or” instead of as an “inclusive “or,” the Court reasoned that only one of the two conditions must be satisfied for the agreement to constitute a partnership at will. The Court erroneously assumed that since the evidence showed that the first condition was met, it was simply unnecessary to determine whether the second statutory condition was also met.

The Statute of Frauds does not apply to a partnership at will. *Malnar v. Carlson*, 128 Wn.2d 521, 533-34, 910 P.2d 455 (1996). Therefore, the Court of Appeals concluded that “the jury should have been allowed to decide if King was entitled to damages.” *Opinion*, at 22. The appellate court remanded the case for a new trial limited to the issue of damages on King’s breach of contract claim. *Id.* at 26.

**D. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

1. **RCW 25.05.005(8) defines a “partnership at will.” Whether the statute requires *both* the absence of any agreement to remain partners (1) for a definite term *and* (2) the absence of any agreement to remain partners until the completion of any definite undertaking, is an issue that this Court should decide. (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).**
  - (a) **The Court of Appeals erroneously construed the “or” as a disjunctive “or.” When preceded by a negative – like the word “not” – the word “or” usually means that *both* conditions linked by the word “or” must be satisfied. Under these circumstances, the word is an “inclusive” conjunction.**

In *State v. Keller*, 98 Wn.2d 725, 729, 657 P.2d 1384 (1983), this

Court held that when a statute links two conditions with the word “and” both of those conditions have to be fulfilled; but sometimes the word “and” has a disjunctive (an “either/or”) meaning, in which case only one of the two conditions must be satisfied. Conversely, *Keller* recognized that while ordinarily the word “or” has a disjunctive meaning, sometimes it has a conjunctive meaning. “Conventions of statutory interpretation dictate that courts need not interpret every ‘or’ as disjunctive.” *Black v. National Merit Ins. Co.*, 154 Wn. App. 674, 226 P.3d 175 (2010). See, e.g., *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores*, 101 Wn. App. 777, 790, 6 P.3d 583 (2000) (interpreting the word “or” in the statute codifying the merchant’s privilege to detain shoplifters as the conjunctive “or” because construing it as the disjunctive “or” would lead to absurd results).

As the *Black* Court recognized, when the word “not” precedes the two conditions linked with the word “or,” this changes everything. Misconstruing an “or” as the disjunctive “or” is an easy mistake to make. When there is no negation word at the beginning of a phrase, the word “or” has a disjunctive meaning. As the following examples show, the disjunctive “or” conveys that there is a choice to make between two alternatives and that only one need be chosen or need apply: (1) “We can go to your office now or later.” (2) “Is it a boy or a girl?” (3) “You can go to the circus if you clean your room or rake the leaves.”

Sometimes, however, the word “or” is used in the conjunctive sense. In these situations it conveys the idea that the subjects of *both* linked phrases must apply. Consider, for example, different ways of telling someone that

two activities – eating and drinking for example – are *both* forbidden. If the command is phrased in the passive voice, with a focus on the activities which are forbidden, then regardless of who is being addressed, the conjunctive sense of the two commands can easily and unambiguously be conveyed by using a “neither/nor” formulation: “*Neither* eating *nor* drinking is permitted on the bus.”

But if, instead, the command is phrased with a focus on the person being addressed, then the word “not” is used to signify what the addressee may *not* do, in the following manner: “You may *not* eat *or* drink on the bus.” Phrasing the command in this fashion does not mean that the speaker is telling the listener to choose *either* to *not* eat, *or* to *not* drink. It does not convey the message that although doing both activities simultaneously is forbidden, doing only one of the activities is permitted. Instead, it instructs the listener that *both* activities are forbidden while riding the bus. In this situation, the word “or” is a conjunctive or “inclusive” “or.”

The conjunctive “or” is often used instead of the word “and” because “and” would probably convey the wrong message. Consider this sign:



The clear message this sign expresses – with the use of the word “or” – is that *both* texting *and* talking on cell phones are prohibited.

If the sign said “No texting *and* talking on cell phones,” some people might be confused. They might think that the message being conveyed was that people should not *simultaneously* talk and text on their cell phones, but that they were free to do one “*or*” the other. After all, the familiar traffic sign “Please don’t drink and drive” very clearly means don’t do both at the same time. It clearly does not mean, “Please do not ever drink and please do not ever drive.”

- (b) **The decision below conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals regarding statutory construction. (RAP 13.4(b)(2)).**

The lesson here is that especially when preceded by a negation word, the word “or” is used to convey the idea that *both* subject phrases are being



forbidden or excluded. In *Black* the court held that when the word “or” is preceded by a negation word like “not” it functions as the conjunctive “or.” *Black*, 154 Wn. App. at 688.<sup>2</sup> The same is true in the present case. To paraphrase *Black*, “When we apply this principle to the” partnership at will “definition” in RCW 25.05.005(8), “the most reasonable interpretation is that it states a conjunctive rather than a disjunctive list of requirements.” Thus, to constitute a partnership-at-will, an agreement must *not* be an “agree[ment] to remain partners until the expiration of a definite term *and not* an “agree[ment] to remain partners until the completion of a particular undertaking.” Thus, the decision below conflicts with the Court of Appeals’ decision in *Black*.

- (c) **RCW 25.05.005(8) is part of the Uniform Partnership Act. Courts in other jurisdictions construe the identical statutory language as requiring that both conditions linked by the word “or” be satisfied before the agreement can qualify as a partnership at will.**

Because the uniform construction of Uniform Acts is to be greatly desired, “Washington courts have looked for guidance to case law from other jurisdictions that have modeled their laws on the same Uniform Act.” *Sattler v. Northwest Tissue Center*, 110 Wn. App. 689, 694, 42 P.3d 440

---

<sup>2</sup> Brian Garner, editor of Black’s Law Dictionary, points out in his work *A Dictionary of American Usage*, that a word of negation changes a disjunctive “or” to a conjunctive “or.” “For example, while ‘A or B’ is disjunctive, ‘not A or B’ is conjunctive and means the same thing as ‘not A nor B.’ Thus, ‘[n]ot A nor B’ means the same thing as ‘not A *and not* B.’ By way of illustration, ‘I would *not* do it for love *or* money’ means the same thing as ‘I would *not* do it for love *and* I would *not* do it for money.’

(2002), citing *Cellular Engineering, Ltd. v. O'Neill*, 118 Wn.2d 16, 23-24, 820 P.2d 941 (1991); *Sedgwick v. Gwinn*, 73 Wn. App. 879, 887 fn. 8 873 P.2d 528 (1994). Accordingly, cases from other jurisdictions construing the same provision in the Uniform Partnership Act, are particularly instructive.

The decisions of appellate courts in other States, where the term “partnership at will” is defined in identical language, confirm that the “or” is the conjunctive “or” and that both conditions must be met. In *Miller v. Gilbert*, 5 Del. J. Corp. L. 502 (Del. Ct. Chancery 1979), Gilbert unilaterally decided to dissolve his partnership with Miller over Miller’s objection that he had no legal right to do so. The Court held Gilbert did have the right to unilaterally dissolve the partnership because it was a partnership at will. The Court explained that in order to constitute a partnership at will the agreement between the two men had to meet both the “no definite term” and the “no particular undertaking” requirements, and that it did meet them both.

[T]he evidence reveals that the informal understanding embodied no definite term during which the business relationship was to exist; *nor* was the purpose of the partnership limited to a particular undertaking. Where there is no definite term for the partnership *and* where no particular undertaking is specified, the dissolution of the partnership can be caused by the express will of any partner, and such action will not be in violation of the agreement between the parties. 6 Del. C. s. 1531(1)(b).

*Miller*, 5 Del. J. Corp. L. at 509-10 (emphasis added).

In *Bates v. Tammany*, 10 Cal.2d 697, 76 P.2d 513 (1938), the California Supreme Court applied the same statutory interpretation. however, the partnership agreement was held *not* to qualify as a partnership at will because it only satisfied one of the two requirements.

The [trial] court further found that the “partnership was formed for the purpose of building, constructing, operating and maintaining radio station KTRB so long as the license therefore could be obtained from the federal government,” and that the station was operating on a license that must be renewed every six months.

*Id.* at 700.

Like Washington, California had enacted the Uniform Partnership Act and thus its statutory definition of a partnership at will used the word “or.” Although the partnership agreement did not have any definite term, it *did* contain an agreement for a particular undertaking because there was an agreement to continue for so long as a license from the federal government could be maintained. Therefore the Court rejected the contention that it was a partnership at will:

The finding that the partnership was formed for a definite undertaking, namely for the construction, operation and maintenance of the radio broadcasting station, KTRB, and so long as the federal license therefor could be procured, is fully supported by the record, and *negatives any conclusion which otherwise might be drawn that the partnership was one at will. A finding now as a matter of law that the partnership was of that nature would not be justified.*

*Bates*, 10 Cal.2d at 700 (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

**(d) An agreement to remain partners until all debts are paid off is an agreement to remain partners “until completion of a particular undertaking” and thus it can never be a “partnership at will.”**

Three years after deciding the *Bates* case, in *Owen v. Cohen*, 19

---

<sup>3</sup> Similarly, in *Gelman v. Buehler*, 20 N.Y.3d 534, 986 N.E.2d 914 (2013), the Court explained that under the Uniform Partnership Act, which New York had adopted, to constitute a partnership at will the evidence must show that *both* requirements of the statute were satisfied even though the two requirements were linked by the word “or.”

Cal.2d 147, 119 P.2d 173 (1941), the California Supreme Court again held that a partnership agreement did *not* qualify as a partnership at will. In *Owen* the partners agreed to operate a bowling alley and they agreed that they would remain partners until all their partnership debts had been paid out of partnership profits. The trial court ruled that this was a partnership at will. But the California Supreme Court reversed, holding that an agreement to remain partners until repayment of all debts was *not* a partnership at will because it was an agreement to remain partners until completion of a particular undertaking.

Defendant's objection to the finding that the partnership was one at will is fully justified by the contradicted evidence that the partners at the inception of their undertaking agreed that all obligations incurred by the partnership, including the money advanced by the plaintiff, were to be paid out of the profits of the business. While the term of the partnership was not expressly fixed, it must be presumed from this agreement that the parties intended the relation should continue until the obligations were liquidated in the manner mutually contemplated. *These circumstances negative the existence of a partnership at will*, dissoluble at the election of a member thereof.

*Owen*, 19 Cal.2d at 150 (emphasis added).

- (e) **In this case, the undisputed evidence shows an agreement that the partnership would pay rent under multi-year leases. Here, as in *Owen*, there was an agreement to remain partners until completion of a particular undertaking.**

In both his pleadings and his trial testimony, King conceded that his agreement with Mockovak included an agreement to remain partners until they had paid all the rent due under multi-year leases and to honor lifetime

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