FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/15/2018 2:04 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95517-4 Court of Appeals No. 74544-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING AND MOCKOVAK EYE CENTER, INC., P.S., a Washington professional service corporation; and CLEARLY LASIK, INC., a Nevada corporation,

Respondents,

V.

MICHAEL MOCKOVAK, M.D., an individual,

Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David R. Goodnight, WSBA #20286 Jill D. Bowman, WSBA #11754 Rachel D. Groshong, WSBA #47021 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 206.624.0900

Attorneys for Respondents Joseph King, M.D., et al.

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

⁴ Mockovak did not plead the statute of frauds as an affirmative defense or raise it at any point during the almost six years of pretrial proceedings. *Cf. Gumn v. Riely*, 185 Wn. App. 517, 528-29, 344 P.3d 1225 (upholding trial court's refusal to consider an affirmative defense raised for first time in party's trial brief), *review denied*, 183 Wn.2d 1004 (2015); *McNaughton Grp., LLC v. Park*, No. 70064-2-I, 2014 WL 1289468, at *1-2 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2014) (unpublished) (holding trial court did not err in finding defendants waived statute of frauds defense by not raising it until discovery had concluded).

(1946)). Because the oral partnership agreement between King and Mockovak "was for an indefinite length of time and terminable at will," the appellate court ruled that the statute of frauds "did not apply." Op. at 22. This conclusion was solidly based on the facts of the case and long-established precedent from this Court.

Mockovak tries to argue otherwise by pointing to RCW 25.05.005(8)'s definition of a partnership at will and suggesting that the Court of Appeals ignored the second prong of that definition. According to Mockovak, the Court of Appeals ruled that the King and Mockovak partnership agreement was for an indefinite term, but ignored that the partners had agreed to remain partners until the completion of a particular undertaking. Mockovak's argument misses the mark for at least three reasons.

First, Mockovak ignores case law explaining that the Uniform Partnership Act's "particular undertaking" reference "has been defined to require a specific objective or project that may be accomplished at some future time, although the precise date need not be known or ascertainable at the time the partnership is created." *Gelman v. Buehler*, 20 N.Y.3d 534, 537, 986 N.E.2d 914, 964 N.Y.S.2d 80 (2013). "Business activities which may continue

indefinitely are not 'particular' in nature and do not constitute particular undertakings." *Tropeano v. Dorman*, 441 F.3d 69, 77-78 (1st Cir. 2006).⁵

Second, Mockovak ignores the Court of Appeals' description of the parties' agreement. Op. at 19-20. The two doctors

agreed to perform surgeries, contribute capital, share in administrative functions, and share debts and profits equally. Together they opened surgical centers in Washington and Canada and later agreed to expand their practice by opening clinics in Wisconsin, Idaho, Oregon, and Nevada. To make this possible, Clearly Lasik and KMEC leased space, bought equipment, paid clinic operating costs, sometimes using funds provided by bank loans and lines of credit personally guaranteed by the partners.

Id. Based on the evidence admitted at trial, the Court of Appeals concluded that King and Mockovak entered into a partnership agreement "to build an ophthalmological practice together." Op. at 19. This type of agreement is "too amorphous to meet the statutory 'particular undertaking' standard." Gelman, 20 N.Y.3d at 538, 964 N.Y.S.2d 80, 986 N.E.2d 914; see also, e.g., Page v. Page, 55 Cal. 2d 192, 195-96, 359 P.2d 41, 10 Cal. Rptr. 643 (1961).

⁵ See, e.g., Chandler Med. Bldg. Partners v. Chandler Dental Grp., 175 Ariz. 273, 279-80, 855 P.2d 787 (1993) (rejecting argument that partnership to develop and lease or sell a medical building was for a particular undertaking, because the building could be leased indefinitely); Canter's Pharmacy, Inc. v. Elizabeth Assocs., 396 Pa. Super. 505, 511-12, 578 A.2d 1326 (1990) (holding partnership to renovate, equip, and operate a personal care facility was not a partnership for a particular undertaking because the facility could be operated indefinitely); Page v. Page, 55 Cal. 2d 192, 195-96, 359 P.2d 41, 10 Cal. Rptr. 643 (1961) (holding that individuals who had contributed personal funds and agreed to develop and operate a linen supply business had not agreed to remain partners until the expiration of a particular undertaking).

Mockovak also ignores that the Court of Appeals' conclusion that he and King "formed a partnership to build an ophthalmological practice for profit and the partnership was to continue indefinitely," Op. at 22 (emphasis added), was implicitly an acknowledgment that both prongs of RCW 25.05.005(8) were satisfied. He is mistaken when he argues there was a failure to consider the second prong. Because both prongs were met, the court committed no error when it held that the statute of frauds did not apply.

Third, Mockovak misrepresents the record. King never "conceded" that he had agreed to remain partners with Mockovak until their multi-year leases were fully satisfied and until they had honored the lifetime guarantees given to certain patients. Pet. at 13. King did not dispute that he and Mockovak were responsible for paying partnership debts that were incurred with the expectation that the multi-year transactions (e.g., leases) would inure to the partners' benefits. CP 6284. But these statements do not reflect any "concession" that there was an agreement to remain partners **until** the obligations were satisfied. In fact, with respect to the multi-year lease obligations, King made it clear that if a lease was a partnership obligation, even if the individual partners had not signed personal guarantees, they "were both responsible for" paying the debt. RP 84:19-85:5 (G). In other words, they did not have to stay together so that the *partnership* could satisfy the

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

96258257.1 0080527-00001

obligation, but rather, both King and Mockovak were individually responsible for repayment of the partnership's liabilities.⁶

Mockovak is not helped by his citation to *Owen v. Cohen*, 19 Cal. 2d 147, 119 P.2d 713 (1941). In *Owen*, the court held that when a partner advances a sum of money to a partnership *with the understanding that the amount contributed was a loan to the partnership and was to be repaid as soon as feasible* from the prospective profits of the business, the partnership is for the term reasonably required to repay the loan. The California Supreme Court has distinguished *Owen*, explaining that in that case, the court "properly held that the partners impliedly promised to continue the partnership for a term reasonably required to allow the partnership to earn sufficient money to accomplish the understood objective," but that is not the case when the defendant fails "to prove any facts from which an agreement to continue the partnership for a term may be implied." *Page*, 55 Cal. 2d at 195-96, 359 P.2d 4, 10 Cal. Rptr. 643. "The understanding to which [the *Page*] defendant testified was no more than a common hope that the partnership earnings would

⁶ King and Mockovak did not remain partners until termination of the leases for the Wisconsin, Nevada, Oregon, and Idaho clinics. King testified that when those clinics were closed, the leases were assumed or bought out. RP 251:5-14 (R). As for the warranty surgery obligations, *see* Op. at 20, there was no evidence in the record suggesting that King and Mockovak entered into their partnership for the purpose of offering and making good on warranty surgeries, or that they agreed to remain partners until the deaths of all their patients who had purchased lifetime warranties.

pay for all the necessary expenses. Such a hope does not establish even by implication a 'definite term or particular undertaking'" *Id.* at 196 (citation omitted). "All partnerships are ordinarily entered into with the hope that they will be profitable, but that alone does not make them all partnerships for a term and obligate the partners to continue in the partnerships until all of the losses over a period of many years have been recovered." *Id.*

Here, too, the evidence shows there was no understanding that King and Mockovak would remain partners until their losses were repaid. Agreeing to be equally responsible for partnership obligations is not the same thing as agreeing to remain partners until all obligations the partnership incurs are satisfied. King and Mockovak's arrangement was a classic partnership at will. The Court of Appeals therefore committed no error when it reversed the trial court's erroneous statute of frauds ruling.

B. The Court of Appeals' rejection of Mockovak's confusing, misleading, and argumentative jury instruction is consistent with precedent and does not raise a constitutional issue or an issue of substantial public interest.

Mockovak's jury instruction challenges are based on the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's refusal to give the following instruction:

Mockovak has been convicted of crimes which will be accepted as fact for purposes of this trial. The Washington Constitution's Declaration of Rights provides that "[n]o conviction shall work a corruption of the

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 11

96258257.1 0080527-00001

blood nor a forfeiture of the estate." Mockovak seeks to recover damages and the value of his share of the Clearly Lasik® business, which are part of his "estate." You may consider whether Mockovak's conviction had any effect on the value of his "estate," but you may not, under the Washington Constitution's Declaration of Rights, conclude that he "forfeited" his estate by virtue of his conviction.

Op. at 16 (alteration in original).

The first sentence of the proposed instruction was ambiguous. The fact that Mockovak had been convicted of crimes was indisputable.⁷

Characterizing his convictions as something to be "accepted as fact for purposes of this trial" was confusing and argumentative.

In the second sentence, the quotation marks indicated that the constitutional provision was quoted, but that was not the case. Mockovak paraphrased article 1, section 15, of the Washington Constitution. It was misleading to suggest otherwise.

The third sentence was confusing on two fronts. The reference to "value of his share of the Clearly Lasik® business" was misleading because only Mockovak's KMEC shares were to be valued under RCW 18.100.116 and 23B.13.300. As Mockovak still held his shares in Clearly Lasik, those shares

⁷ See State v. Mockovak, 2013 WL 2181435, at *1 (affirming Mockovak's convictions for attempted murder in the first degree, solicitation to commit murder in the first degree, attempted theft in the first degree, and conspiracy to commit theft in the first degree), review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1022 (2013); In re Mockovak, 194 Wn. App. 310, 377 P.3d 231 (2016) (denying post-conviction relief).

were not subject to any valuation procedure. The sentence also was confusing because it suggested that damages were "part of [Mockovak's] 'estate." Although choses in action may have been part of Mockovak's estate, damages were not. The jury ruled against him on all of his tort claims, and Mockovak therefore had no right to, or property interest in, any damages.

Finally, the last sentence was more a matter of argument than a statement of applicable law. Concluding that the proposed instruction, as a whole, "could cause confusion for the jury" and fell "in the realm of argument," the trial court refused to give it to the jury. RP 678 (R). The Court of Appeals found there was no abuse of discretion.

 The Court of Appeals committed no error in upholding the trial court's rejection of a confusing, misleading, and argumentative instruction.

It is well established that a trial court has no obligation to give a misleading or argumentative instruction. *See, e.g., Watson v. Hockett,* 107 Wn.2d 158, 163, 727 P.2d 669 (1986) (modern jury instruction practice is aimed at "avoid[ing] slanted or argumentative instructions" (citation omitted)); *State v. Rehak,* 67 Wn. App. 157, 165, 834 P.2d 651 (1992) (trial court is not obliged to give misleading instructions). A trial court has a constitutional duty to "declare the law applicable to the case in a general way," *Hiscock v. Phinney,* 81 Wash. 117, 123, 142 P. 461 (1914) (citing Wash.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13 96258257.1 0080527-00001

Const. art. IV, § 16), but declaring the law in a misleading fashion can lead to prejudicial error, see Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).

Here, the trial court gave instructions stating the elements of Mockovak's tort claims and told the jury that if they found in Mockovak's favor on any of the claims, the jury should award damages in an amount that would provide reasonable and fair compensation. CP 7129-31, 7134-35, 7138-39, 7142-43, 7146. Mockovak has not challenged these instructions, and does not contend that they failed to declare the law. To the extent Mockovak believed it was essential to his case that an instruction based on article 1, section of 15 of the Washington Constitution also be given, he should have provided an instruction that correctly stated the law and was not misleading or argumentative. *See Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D., Inc., P.S.,* 99 Wn.2d 438, 447, 63 P.2d 113 (1983). But he did not do so, and the trial court had no duty to revise the proposed instruction so as to eliminate confusing and improper statements. *See Juneau v. Watson,* 68 Wn.2d 874, 880, 416 P.2d 75 (1966).

A trial court's refusal to give a requested instruction is reviewed only for abuse of discretion. *See Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). Although Mockovak argues that the Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial court's refusal to give the proposed instruction, that

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 14 96258257.1 0080527-00001

decision is entirely consistent with the above-cited precedent. None of the cases cited by Mockovak requires a different conclusion. In none of them did a court hold that it is an abuse of discretion to reject a confusing, misleading, and argumentative instruction merely because a reference to a constitutional right is included along with confusing and improper statements.

The trial court's refusal to give the instruction was not prejudicial because Mockovak failed to prove his tort claims and the jury therefore never reached the issue of damages.

Had the trial court abused its discretion in rejecting the proposed instruction (it did not), the error would have been harmless. Mockovak did not prevail on any of his personal claims for conversion, unjust enrichment, civil conspiracy and fraud. CP 7156-60. He received no award of damages and thus there was no opportunity for the jury to effect an unlawful forfeiture of damages.⁸

There is one additional point to be made. When this case is remanded to the trial court, the only matters at issue will be (1) King's claim for breach of contract damages, and (2) the value of Mockovak's KMEC shares. The jury

It is ironic that Mockovak argues it would be "unconstitutional for the jury to take away any portion of [his] share of the *partnership property* because he committed felony offenses." Pet. at 16 (emphasis added). He completely ignores that he was contending at trial (and is still contending) that there was no partnership. According to Mockovak, "[n]o 'partnership' contract" existed between himself and King. CP 5614; *see also id.* ("King and Mockovak indisputably operated using the corporate form. The fact that the parties conducted their business using the corporate form negates the existence of an informal partnership.").

Instruction argument is wholly irrelevant to that proceeding because

Mockovak will not be seeking damages and the trial court judge, not a jury,
will be deciding the value of Mockovak's KMEC shares. Thus, Mockovak's
current argument boils down to a request that the Court accept review of a jury
instruction issue merely to render an advisory opinion. The Court should
decline that request.

In sum, contrary to Mockovak's arguments, the Court of Appeals' ruling with respect to Mockovak's proposed jury instruction does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. It also is not in conflict with other appellate court decisions, or with decisions from this Court or the United States

Supreme Court. Mockovak has failed to demonstrate that this issue warrants review under any of the criteria listed in RAP 13.4(b).

VI. CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated, Mockovak's Petition for Review should be denied.